Filed 09-24-2020

Page 1 of 36

RECEIVED 09-24-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT II

Case Nos.: 2020AP001127-CR 2020AP001128-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DALLAS R. CHRISTEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Appeal of a Judgment and Orders Entered in the Calumet County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey S. Froehlich, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KELSEY LOSHAW Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1086532

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2879 loshawk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did Dallas R. Christel's postconviction motion present a new factor that warranted modification of his sentence?

The circuit court found it was not a new factor. This court should reverse and remand for a determination of whether this new factor warrants modification.

2. Is Wis. Stat. § 940.235 facially unconstitutional?

The circuit court answered no. This court should reverse.

3. Is Wis. Stat. § 940.235 unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Christel?

The circuit court answered no. This court should reverse.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Christel does not request oral argument on either issue, unless the court has unanswered questions after briefing that necessitates additional argument. Mr. Christel does not request publication on the issue of a new factor, as it involves an application of facts to existing law. Mr. Christel does request publication on the issue of constitutionality, as there is a lack of any case law on the issue in Wisconsin.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 6, 2017, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Dallas R. Christel with two counts of battery, domestic abuse, as a repeater; one count of second-degree sexual assault, domestic abuse, as a repeater; one count of strangulation, domestic abuse, as a repeater; and one count of disorderly conduct, domestic abuse, as a repeater, in Calumet County, Case No. 17-CF-179. (R1.4).<sup>1</sup>

On March 8, 2018, Mr. Christel was charged with two counts of felony bail jumping in Calumet County, Case No. 18-CF-39. (R2.1). The violations arose from Mr. Christel's failure to appear at the jury trial and violation of an absolute sobriety condition in his bond for case 17-CF-179. (R2.1). Ultimately, Mr. Christel was arrested in the state of Oregon and extradited back to Wisconsin to face charges in both cases.

Regarding case number 18-CF-39, Mr. Christel pled guilty to two counts of felony bail jumping on February 18, 2019. (*See generally* R2.57). He was sentenced on April 29, 2019, where the court, the Honorable Jeffrey S. Froehlich presiding, sentenced

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this brief, "R1" refers to the appeal record in No. 2020AP001127-CR and "R2" refers to the appeal record in No. 2020AP001128-CR.

Mr. Christel to a total of 12 years in the Wisconsin State Prison system, comprised of 3 years of initial confinement followed by 3 years of extended supervisions on both counts, to be served consecutive to each other. (R2. 33). During sentencing, the court found Mr. Christel eligible for the Substance Abuse Program (SAP) based on a concern for Mr. Christel's substance abuse needs. (R2.59: 21).

The case in 17-CF-179 proceeded to trial on March 27, 2019. On the day of trial, defense counsel filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of count 3, strangulation and suffocation. (R1.247:7; 117; App. 111). The court did not address the motion, as it was deemed untimely. (R1.247: 9, 31-32; 129; App. 113-115). On March 29, 2019, following the trial, Mr. Christel was found guilty on all five counts. (R1.249:148-151). The court ordered a PSI and set the case for sentencing. (R1.170). In the interim, defense counsel renewed her motion for dismissal of count 3. (R1.180, 181, 192). The parties briefed the issue and the court denied the motion in writing prior to sentencing. (R1.199; App. 104-109).

On August 9, 2019, the court, the Honorable Jeffrey S. Froehlich presiding, sentenced Mr. Christel to a total of 22 years in the Wisconsin State Prison system comprised of 13 years and 6 months of initial confinement followed by 8 years and 6 months of extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence. (R1.211; *see generally* R1.250). This sentence must also be served consecutively to the sentence imposed for the bail jumping. (R1.211).

During the 17-CF-179 sentencing hearing, the court acknowledged Mr. Christel's alcohol and other drug abuse issues and indicated that he would need to address these issues while incarcerated. (R1.250: 31, 38). However, the court did not refer to the effect the sentence here may have on Mr. Christel's ability to participate in SAP, as ordered in 18-CF-39. (See generally R1.250).

Post sentencing, Mr. Christel was staffed in prison, at which time he was informed, as a result of the order of his sentences, he was not eligible for the Substance Abuse Program. (R1.224; R2.44). Despite the court's order in 18-CF-39, Mr. Christel is ineligible for SAP on his bail jumping sentence because he is statutorily ineligible for SAP in 17-CF-179, given the order of the sentences.

Mr. Christel filed a postconviction motion requesting that the court modify his sentence based on a new factor. (R1.224; R2.44). Specifically, Mr. Christel alleged that the sentence in 17-CF-179, for which Mr. Christel was sentenced second, was a new factor. Christel alleged that he had treatment needs that were acknowledged in 18-CF-39, but, because of statutory ineligibility for treatment in 17-CF-179, he was unable to complete the treatment deemed appropriate by the judge. After briefing, the court denied the defendant's motion for sentence modification. (R1.224; R2.44). Mr. Christel filed timely Notices of Appeal. (R1.232; R2.51). This court consolidated the cases on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The charges in this case stem from Mr. Christel's brief but serious romantic relationship with E.M. in 2017. During her testimony, E.M. told the jury that she knew Mr. Christel from years back in school, and when they reconnected, she went to stay with him in March 2017 in order to get on her feet after separating from her husband. (R1.248:21). After a few months living together, they ultimately started a romantic relationship. On May 7, 2017, they were out together and decided to stop at Schwarz's, a supper club in St. Ann's, Wisconsin, for a drink with friends. (R1.248:25). After a few drinks, they left Schwarz's, and E.M. told the jury that Mr. Christel seemed very intoxicated. (R1.248: 27).

While E.M. did not remember doing so, Robbie Pratt testified that he remembered Mr. Christel and E.M. stopping at his house that evening, and also noticed that Mr. Christel was intoxicated, but that he did not seem angry. (R1.248:115, 214).

E.M. and Mr. Christel testified to very different accounts of what happened when they arrived home.<sup>2</sup> E.M. testified that when they arrived back to the apartment, a fight that started in the car continued

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  E.M. admitted she didn't know the chronology of events and provided testimony consistent with a lack of memory regarding chronology, but for the purposes of appeal, Mr. Christel has given her testimony context such that the court is able to follow the chronology of events. (R1.248:32-33).

and Mr. Christel began to throw things. (R1.248: 29-31). She testified that Mr. Christel hit her with a chair, and took off her clothes. (R1.248: 31). After Mr. Christel took off her clothes, E.M. said she ran outside to get help, to the gas station down the street where she knew police to typically have a squad car parked, but on that night, there was no police car. (R1.248:31-32). E.M. said she was running and calling for help, but Mr. Christel grabbed her and pulled her back into the apartment. (R1.248:34). No officer checked E.M.'s story to see if an officer was at the aforementioned intersection on the 7<sup>th</sup> at the time she indicated she ran for help. (R1.248:181).

E.M. told the jury that, after being dragged back to the house, she remembered being on the bed, Mr. Christel screaming at her, holding her hands behind her head, and raping her. (R1.248:35). She explained that Mr. Christel had his hands above her head. (R1.248:35-36). E.M. testified that Mr. Christel's hand went up by her neck, and at some point he was grabbing at her lips and pushing up on her neck. (R1.248:36).

During the incident, E.M. testified that she texted her estranged husband, S.M.<sup>3</sup>, and asked for help. (R1.248:41). S.M drove to Mr. Christel's apartment, at which point E.M. said she broke free and ran outside, with only a coat to cover her. (R1.247:185). Both S.M. and E.M. testified that they

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  To preserve the anonymity of E.M., this brief refers to her estranged husband as S.M.

didn't call police or go to a hospital. (R1.247: 115, 118-19; 248:43). They did, however, tell the jury that a few days later, on May 10, 2017, they took pictures of E.M.'s apparent injuries. (R1.247: 190; R1.248:47). The pictures, which showed no injuries to E.M.'s neck but did show a mark on her lip, were made part of the record and published to the jury. (R1.247:198; R1.248:50-51, 65).

E.M. testified that after this incident, she continued contact with Mr. Christel and, after a few weeks, ultimately reconciled with him because she wanted to make everything better. (R1.248:64-65). E.M. testified about a second incident that took place on May 27, 2017. The account of what happened that night also differs between Mr. Christel and E.M.<sup>4</sup>

Briefly, E.M. testified that on May 27, 2017, she and Mr. Christel went to S.M.'s house to crush cans and spend time with E.M.'s children. (R1.248:65). E.M. told the jury that there was an argument, during which Mr. Christel asked her to hit him, so she did. (R1.248:68-69). Shortly after, they left to go home. (R1.248:68-69).

E.M. testified that when they arrived home, Mr. Christel ripped off her clothes, hit her on the back with drawers, pulled her hair, kicked her down the stairs, threw her stuff outside, and locked her out

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For the purposes of appeal, the facts of the incident on May 27, 2020, are not relevant to the constitutional claim, as count 3, strangulation and suffocation, pertain to the events on May 7, 2020.

of the house. (R1.248: 72-73, 78). She told the jury her attempts to deploy pepper spray were ineffective in stopping Mr. Christel. Instead, he took hold of the spray and deployed it at her. (R1.248:74).

Police arrived at the residence shortly after 10:00 p.m. (R1.248:150). During the investigation at the apartment, E.M. did not disclose the incident from May 7, 2017. (R1.248:90). It was not until May 31, 2017, did E.M. tell the police about her version of events regarding both May 7 and May 27. (R1.248:99). Only in her May 31 statement did E.M. indicate that the incidents were intentional, not accidental. (R1.248:102). E.M. never went to the hospital and never had a sexual assault exam completed. (R1.247:167-168; R1.248:167-69).

Mr. Christel also testified. As to the events of May 7, 2017, he told the jury that he remembered stopping at Schwarz's and having drinks, but believed he was drugged because he did not remember anything else until he and E.M. returned home. (R1.248:243; R1.249:46-47). Mr. Christel told the jury that the next thing he remembered he was lying in bed and E.M. was initiating sex and erotic asphysiation with him. (R1.248:243). When they were done having sex, he went to the bathroom and returned to an angry E.M. yelling at him, and throwing a chair and a star tea light at him. (R1.248:244-45). Mr. Christel testified that he kicked the chair back at her and hit her, and that he threw the tea light on the ground after she had thrown it at him. (R1.248:245-46). He said that E.M. was still

throwing things, so he went in his bedroom and locked the door. (R1.248:246-47). When he woke up, E.M. was gone. He told the jury that he did not try to contact her right away, as he had broken up with her and kicked her out of the house. (R1.249:49). Mr. Christel also told the jury that he did eventually apologize for hurting E.M.; he had promised her he would never kick her out of his house, but felt as if he had broken that promise and he felt bad for kicking the chair that hit E.M. (R1.248:248; R1.249:32).

Mr. Christel also testified about the incident on May 27. He told the jury that while at S.M.'s house, him E.M. became upset with and hit him, unprovoked. (R1.248:251-52). When they returned home, the arguing continued, and E.M. threw a bowl towards Mr. Christel, which prompted him to tell her to leave and throw her belongings down the steps. But, she continued to throw things around the apartment instead of leaving. (R1.248:253-54; R1.249: 16, 31). After a tug of war over her bag that resulted in E.M.'s purse breaking, E.M. picked up the pepper spray and used it on Mr. Christel. (R1.248: 264-65). Mr. Christel said after this he left the apartment and went to Kwik Trip for cigarettes. (R1.249: 17, 582). Police never tried to corroborate Mr. Christel's version of events about Kwik Trip with surveillance video, although it was available. (R1.247:179).

When he returned, Mr. Christel testified that he found E.M. naked in the bathroom. (R1.249:19). Sometime after, police arrived and found Mr. Christel

outside of the apartment and E.M. naked at the top of the apartment stairs. (R1.248:146).

Both Mr. Christel and E.M. were arrested, as police were unable to determine exactly what happened and who was at fault. (R1.248: 154-55). During the investigation, police also took a statement the apartment's downstairs from tenant, Kent Anderson. He testified at trial that he heard arguing from Mr. Christel's apartment the night of May 7. (R1.247:155-56). Mr. Anderson told the jury that, the next day, Mr. Christel apologized to him via text, saying that he was sorry, it would not happen again, and he had kicked E.M. out. (R1.247:157). Mr. Anderson testified that on May 27, he heard Mr. Christel "yelling at her to get the fuck out of my house," to which he heard the woman answer "no." (R1.247:158).

During her testimony, E.M. admitted that she had previously discussed BDSM<sup>5</sup> relationships with Mr. Christel. (R1.248:122). Heidi Buss, E.M.'s coworker, also testified that she had conversations with E.M. in which E.M. talked about her relationship with Mr. Christel—that she liked it when he got rough with her or made her feel helpless by holding her down. (R1.248:218-19). Mr. Christel testified that E.M. told him she liked bondage, erotic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> BDSM is defined as: sexual preferences and behaviors involving physical restraints, an unequal power relationship, or pain, including the practice of bondage, discipline, dominance, submission, sadomasochism, etc. http://www.dictionary.com (last visited Sep. 17, 2020).

asphyxiation and roll playing. (R1.248:238). Mr. Christel told the jury that they had a 'safe word' or signal, which was three taps, at which point Mr. Christel would let go during erotic asphyxiation. (R1.248:239).

Defense counsel also presented testimony, consistent with defense counsel's theory that S.M., E.M.'s estranged husband, could have caused the injuries to E.M. on May 7. Travis Enneper, a friend of Mr. Christel, testified that, sometime in March 2017, they went to pick up E.M. from her estranged husband's house. (R1.:248:197). He testified that as they pulled up to the house, S.M. came towards the truck and slapped the hood two or three times. (R1.248:198). Mr. Enneper told the jury that his window was open and S.M. came to the window, stood on the floorboard, and grabbed the window. (R1.248:198). He said that he opened the door to avoid his window breaking and S.M., whom he had never met before, grabbed, pushed and shoved him. (R1.248:198-99). Robbie Pratt also testified to this event, confirming for the jury that he witnessed S.M. slam his hands on the front of the vehicle and pull on the window. (R1.248:212-13).

At the close of evidence, the court instructed the jury, took closing arguments, and ultimately the jury came back with guilty verdicts on all five counts. (R1.249:14). Additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. The trial court erred in denying the defendant's postconviction motion without making the proper legal determinations.

a new factor exists presents a Whether question of law that this Court reviews independently. State v. Scaccio, 2000 WI App 265, ¶13, 240 Wis. 2d 95, 622 N.W.2d 449. Even if proved, the circuit court maintains discretion to decide whether the new factor iustifies sentence modification. State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, ¶37, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. The appellate court reviews that decision for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Id., ¶33.

A defendant seeking a sentence modification must demonstrate, by clear and convincing evidence, that there is a new factor to justify the modification. *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1, 8-9, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989). A new factor is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Id.* at 8 (citation omitted). If the defendant meets that standard, the circuit court must then determine, in its discretion, whether the new factor justifies sentence modification. *Id.* "[T]he defendant must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶38.

Whether a fact or set of facts presented by the defendant constitutes a "new factor" is a question of law. *Id.*, ¶33, citing *State v. Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d 544, 547, 335 N.W.2d 399 (1983). Additionally, this court reviews questions of law independently of the determinations rendered by the circuit court and the court of appeals. *Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d at 546. The determination of whether a new factor warrants sentence modification is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion. *Id.* 

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Christel argued that the sentence in 17-CF-179 was a new factor, as it did not exist at the time of sentencing in 18-CF-39. (R1:224, 227; R2:44, 46). Alternatively, he argued that the information regarding how the sentence in 17-CF-179 would impact his eligibility for SAP in 18-CF-39 was unknowingly overlooked at the time of sentencing in 18-CF-39, given his consecutive sentence and ineligibility for programming in 17-CF-179 made him ineligible for programming on both cases. (R1:224, 227; R2:49).

Here, all but one of Mr. Christel's convictions in 17-CF-179 is a Chapter 940 offense, and he is therefore ineligible to participate in the program at all on these cases. *See* Wis. Stat. § 302.05(3)(a) (an inmate is statutorily ineligible for SAP if serving a sentence for Chapter 940 conviction). However, he is statutorily eligible in 18-CF-39 to participate in SAP. (Bail jumping is not a disqualifying offense).

After briefing, the circuit court issued a written decision denving Mr. Christel's postconviction motion. (R1.230; R2.49; App. 101-103). The court only ruled on the first prong of *Harbor*, determining that the sentence in 17-CF-179 was not a new factor, and stopped there. (See generally R1:230; R2:49: App. 101-103). Not only did the court err in deciding that the sentence in 17-CF-179 was not a new factor, but the court failed to complete the required *Harbor* analysis when it failed to address whether, if the sentence in 17-CF-179 was a new factor, it would warrant modification.

A. The court erred in determining that the sentence in 17-CF-179 was not a new factor.

The court's written decision stated that the sentence in 17-CF-179 was not a new factor because the court was aware that both cases were pending at the time of sentencing in 18-CF-39. (R1.230:3; R2.49:3, App. 103).

The court's ruling was erroneous. The sentence in 17-CF-179 is, in fact, a new factor, as it was not in existence at the time of sentencing in 18-CF-39. While the court was aware, given the state's comments at sentencing in 18-CF-39, of what *could* happen at sentencing in 17-CF-179, there is no way for the court to have known how a sentence, one that wasn't even in existence at the time, would affect another sentence, unless the court had prematurely and prejudicially determined what sentence it would give on the subsequent case.

This court should find that the new sentence in 17-CF-179 is a new factor, either because it was not in existence at the time of sentencing in 18-CF-39 or because the court's contemplation of another sentence unknowingly overlooked the actual effect the sentence in 17-CF-179 would have on the court's sentence in 18-CF-39.

B. The court failed to determine, even if the sentence in 17-CF-179 was a new factor, whether it warranted sentence modification.

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