FILED
11-18-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2020AP1127-CR and 2020AP1128-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DALLAS R. CHRISTEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM POSTCONVICTION ORDERS ENTERED IN CALUMET COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY S. FROEHLICH, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-6203 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) collinsws@doj.state.wi.us

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

The United States Supreme Court has typically "not recognized an 'overbreadth' doctrine outside the limited context of the First Amendment." *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987). "The Wisconsin Supreme Court is in accord with this limited application of the overbreadth doctrine." *Brandmiller v. Arreola*, 189 Wis. 2d 215, 228–29, 525 N.W.2d 353 (Ct. App. 1994), *aff'd*, 199 Wis. 2d 528, 544 N.W.2d 894 (1996). So in most circumstances, unless a statute "infringe[s] on a fundamental right protected by the First Amendment, [a court] should not address the overbreadth challenge." *Id*.

Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 40 of 53

Courts have only "recognized the validity of facial attacks alleging overbreadth (though not necessarily using that term) in relatively few settings," beyond the First Amendment. *Sabri*, 541 U.S. at 609–10. The United States Supreme Court reconciled any inconsistency extending overbreadth doctrine beyond the First Amendment by stating that, outside the limited settings already recognized, "and absent a good reason, [the Court does] not extend an invitation to bring overbreadth claims." *Id.* at 610.

Granted, as Christel noted, the Supreme Court has applied overbreadth analysis in a few limited settings beyond the First Amendment. (Christel Br. 18–19.) But overbreadth remains "limited mostly if not exclusively to the First Amendment." Richard H. Fallon, Jr., As-Applied and Facial Challenges and Third-Party Standing, 113 Harv. L. Rev. 1321, 1321 (2000). Christel is dismissive of such a limitation. He ignores any citation to Salerno and other binding Wisconsin precedent following Salerno. (Christel Br. ii–v.)

Christel fails to understand that overbreadth precedent does not apply here. He states that "the Supreme Court has also applied the overbreadth doctrine to rights falling outside the scope of the First Amendment, where fundamental rights are implicated." (Christel Br. 18.). But no fundamental right is implicated; there is not a recognized fundamental liberty or privacy interest to strangle or suffocate another person during sex. *See Rector*, 149 F. Supp. 3d at 634 (no fundamental right to BDSM sexual activity). So this Court cannot apply overbreadth to the new setting advocated by Christel.

This Court should not extend overbreadth doctrine beyond its present precedential limits. It should reject Christel's invitation to find that he has a constitutionally protected interest and new fundamental liberty right to strangle and suffocate another person.

3. Christel hasn't proved overbreadth doctrine applies and, even if it did, a limiting construction is preferred to invalidating a statute in its entirety.

Christel's overbreadth claim fails because he misapplies and conflates constitutional principles and doctrines. He grafts his overbreadth claim onto his liberty interest claim, (see Christel Br. 18–20), thereby replicating his misapplication of Lawrence to incorrectly assert the strangulation suffocation and statute implicates fundamental right, see supra I. A. 2. (statute doesn't implicate a fundamental right). He fails to adequately address wellestablished overbreadth doctrine, such as that articulated in Salerno and Sabri defining the limits and restraints of overbreadth to the First Amendment and those limited additional settings already recognized by the Court. (See Christel Br. 18–20 (limited discussion).) And Christel has no discussion about overbreadth remedies beyond striking down a statue in its entirety. (Christel Br. 18–20.)

Even assuming overbreadth applied here, Christel had to show a "substantial number" of unconstitutional applications. *Culver*, 384 Wis. 2d 222, ¶ 9. Christel provides only one: consensual erotic asphyxiation in sexual relationships. (Christel Br. 19.) Christel's single example—a circumstance that doesn't implicate a fundamental right—is not the substantial number required to trigger overbreadth doctrine. It is insufficient to overcome the strong presumption that the statute is constitutional. "[I]nvalidating a statute is 'strong medicine' to be 'employed with hesitation, and then "only as a last resort."" *Jackson*, 390 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 13 (quoting *New York v. Ferber*, 458 U.S. 747, 769 (1982)).

Assuming arguendo the strangulation and suffocation statute was overbroad for not containing a lack of consent element, then the appropriate remedy is a limiting construction requiring a lack of consent. Under overbreadth Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 42 of 53

doctrine, "courts may apply a limiting construction to rehabilitate the statute when such a narrowing and validating construction is readily available." *Stevenson*, 236 Wis. 2d 86, ¶ 15. A limiting construction is a preferred remedy to invalidating a statute. *Compare id*. (limiting construction), with Jackson, 390 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 13 (invalidation last resort).

C. Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation statute is not vague.

1. Christel has the burden to prove the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

In a vagueness challenge, the court presumes that the regulation is constitutional. *See State v. Ruesch*, 214 Wis. 2d 548, 556, 571 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1997). The person raising the claim has the burden to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the regulation is unconstitutionally vague. *Id.* The party must show the statute is vague in *all* its applications. *Hegwood v. City of Eau Claire*, 676 F.3d 600, 604 (7th Cir. 2012).

Vagueness rests upon the concept "that procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication." *City of Oak Creek v. King*, 148 Wis. 2d 532, 546, 436 N.W.2d 285 (1989). The primary issue is whether the regulation is "sufficiently definite to give reasonable notice of the prohibited conduct to those who wish to avoid its penalties." *Id.* A regulation may be unconstitutionally vague when "it fails to afford proper notice of the conduct it seeks to proscribe." *City of Milwaukee v. Wilson*, 96 Wis. 2d 11, 16, 291 N.W.2d 452 (1980).

A person raising vagueness "does not have standing to challenge it on the grounds of being vague as it may be applied to others." *State v. Clement*, 153 Wis. 2d 287, 296, 450 N.W.2d 789 (Ct. App. 1989). So a "defendant cannot hypothesize fact situations but is confined to the conduct charged." *State v.*

Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 43 of 53

Driscoll, 53 Wis. 2d 699, 701-02, 193 N.W.2d 851 (1972). In other words, if there is nothing vague about the application of the statute to the defendant's conduct, he cannot raise a vagueness challenge on the ground that it might be vague in some other case.

2. Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation statute is not impermissibly vague.

Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation statute is not vague. It clearly and succinctly states that "[w]hoever intentionally impedes the normal breathing or circulation of blood by applying pressure on the throat or neck or by blocking the nose or mouth of another person is guilty of a Class H felony." Wis. Stat. § 940.235(1).

The statute has two elements. Wis. JI–Criminal 1255 (2015). First, the State must prove "[t]he defendant impeded the normal breathing or circulation of blood by applying pressure on the throat or neck or by blocking the nose or mouth" of the victim. *Id.* Second, the State must prove "[t]he defendant did so intentionally." *Id.* The second element "requires that the defendant acted with the mental purpose to impede normal breathing or circulation of blood or was aware that [the] conduct was practically certain to cause that result." *Id.*

The statute articulates two types of conduct that constitute the criminal impediment of normal breathing and blood circulation. Wis. Stat. § 940.235(1). A defendant either: (1) applied pressure on a victim's throat or neck; or (2) blocked the victim's nose or mouth. *Id.* Such explicitness is the antithesis of vagueness.

Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation statute is much more explicit than other statutes that have survived vagueness challenges, such as recklessly endangering safety, stalking, soliciting prostitutes, and disorderly conduct. Balistreri v. State, 83 Wis. 2d 440, 265 N.W.2d 290 (1978) (recklessly endangering safety in Wis. Stat. § 941.30); State v. Givens, 28 Wis. 2d 109, 135 N.W.2d 780 (1965) (disorderly conduct in Wis. Stat. § 947.01); State v. Ruesch, 214 Wis. 2d 548, 571 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1997) (stalking in Wis. Stat. § 940.32); State v. Johnson, 108 Wis. 2d 703, 324 N.W.2d 447 (Ct. App. 1982) (soliciting prostitutes in Wis. Stat. § 944.32).

This Court should conclude that the strangulation and suffocation statute is not impermissibly vague. "A statute need not define with absolute clarity and precision what is and what is not unlawful conduct." *State v. Hurd*, 135 Wis. 2d 266, 272, 400 N.W.2d 42 (Ct. App. 1986). Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation is not vague; it provides sufficient clarity and precision.

3. Christel failed to meet his burden to prove vagueness beyond a reasonable doubt.

Christel's vagueness challenge requires him to "establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there is no possible application or interpretation of the statute which would be constitutional." *State v. Smith*, 215 Wis. 2d 84, 90–91, 572 N.W.2d 496 (Ct. App. 1997). He must show the statute is vague in every application. *Hegwood*, 676 F.3d at 604.

Christel's vagueness challenge fails. He never raised this claim in the circuit court, presenting it for the first time to this Court.²⁶ (See R. 127; 180; 181; 192 (no vagueness challenge).) Christel is upset that the strangulation and

²⁶ Failing to present a claim in the circuit court typically is fatal to a party. *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. But "facial constitutional challenges to criminal convictions cannot be forfeited" and may be made for the first time on appeal. *Id.* ¶ 75 n.3 (citing *State v. McCoy*, 139 Wis. 2d 291, 295 n.1, 407 N.W.2d 319 (Ct. App. 1987) (vagueness claim not forfeited)).

31

Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 45 of 53

suffocation statute criminalizes "non-injurious behaviors" in "private sexual choices." (Christel Br. 17, 21.) Christel has again misstated that the strangulation statute infringes on a fundamental right. (Christel Br. 21.) He has again conflated distinct constitutional doctrines; grafting a liberty and privacy principle from substantive due process doctrine onto his vagueness claim governed by procedural due process doctrine.

Christel's vagueness challenge is doomed by his misapplication of vagueness doctrine. To prevail, Christel must show the statute is vague in all its applications, see Hegwood, 676 F.3d at 604, including cases such as his own act of strangling a victim during a nonconsensual sexual assault. Christel's vagueness challenge fails because he lacks standing to challenge vagueness as applied to others, see Clement, 153 Wis. 2d at 296; he cannot hypothesize fact situations, see Driscoll, 53 Wis. 2d at 701–02. But that is precisely what Christel has done; he provides a hypothetical of "erotic asphyxiation . . . to increase pleasure during a sexual encounter." (Christel's Br. 21.) Christel conceded earlier in his brief that "[i]t is obvious that the state has an interest in prosecuting and preventing mal-intended or harmful sexual encounters." (Christel Br. 17.) His claim fails because he cannot show vagueness in all applications.

This Court may dispatch Christel's vagueness challenge. See State v. Laramore, 179 P.3d 1084, 1088 (Idaho Ct. App. 2007) ("[C]ontention that the [Idaho strangulation] statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face is without merit."). Christel didn't raise a vagueness challenge below and now offers it to this Court without properly understanding vagueness doctrine. Any vagueness challenge must fail because the strangulation and suffocation statute provides much more clarity and precision than other statutes that survived vagueness challenges.

- D. Wisconsin's strangulation and suffocation statute is not unconstitutional as applied to Christel.
 - 1. Christel has the burden to overcome the presumption that a statute is constitutional.

A party asking this Court to find a statute unconstitutional has the burden to overcome the presumption of constitutionality and prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. Wood, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 15. This presumption and burden apply whether the party makes a facial or as-applied challenge. Id.

A constitutional claim is "very complicated from an analytic perspective, both to brief and to decide." *Cemetery Servs.*, 221 Wis. 2d at 831. A party must do more than make a general statement on the law, *United States v. South*, 28 F.3d 619, 629 (7th Cir. 1994), because "undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsupported by pertinent authority, are waived," *United States v. Berkowitz*, 927 F.2d 1376, 1384 (7th Cir. 1991). A constitutional claim must be more than broadly stated; it must be specifically argued. *State v. Scherreiks*, 153 Wis. 2d 510, 520, 451 N.W.2d 759 (Ct. App. 1989).

Christel the cannot overcome constitutionality presumption and satisfy his burden unless he adequately identifies the applicable constitutional doctrine. Compare Wood, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 15 (burden and presumption), with Scherreiks, 153 Wis. 2d at 520 (specificity). He also must sufficiently develop and specifically apply the relevant constitutional principle to the relevant facts in his case. Compare Wood, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 15 (burden and presumption), with Scherreiks, 153 Wis. 2d at 520 (specificity).

Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 47 of 53

2. This Court should not review the asapplied challenge because Christel does not adequately identify relevant constitutional doctrine to support his claim.

Christel dedicated only a single paragraph in his brief to present the legal principle for his as-applied claim. In the paragraph, Christel cites to a single footnote from one case. (Christel Br. 22 (quoting Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove, 2008 WI 51, ¶ 44 n.9, 309 Wis. 2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211).) He dedicates eight subsequent paragraphs to argue the strangulation and suffocation statute is unconstitutional as applied to him. (Christel Br. 22–25.) But Christel never again cites to any legal authority, relying entirely on that single footnote from the only case he presented in his short opening paragraph. (See Christel Br. 22–25 (quoting Olson, 309 Wis. 2d 365, ¶ 44 n. 9).)

This Court should decline to review Christel's undeveloped as-applied constitutional claim. See Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d at 646-47 (declining to review inadequately developed argument). The footnote Christel cited in his brief provides an overview as to facial and as-applied constitutional challenges. (See Christel Br. 22 (quoting Jackson, 309 Wis. 2d 365, ¶ 44, n.9).) But *Olson* pertained to a real estate developer seeking a declaratory judgment against a township that challenged a land division and planning code ordinance on constitutional grounds relating to expost facto as well as an unlawful and uncompensated taking of private property. Jackson, 309 Wis. 2d 365, ¶¶ 2, 44. It's unclear from Christel's citation to Olson the underlying constitutional principles relevant to his claim. He doesn't make Olson's ex post facto claim, and he doesn't make an as-applied unlawful taking claim. Christel made only a general as-applied claim untethered to any underlying constitutional doctrine.

Case 2020AP001127 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-18-2020 Page 48 of 53

This Court should decline review. Christel's citation to *Olson* does not sufficiently articulate the nature of his constitutional claim.

3. Christel cannot meet his burden to show the strangulation and suffocation statute is unconstitutional as applied to him.

If this Court reviews Christel's as-applied claim, it will find that he cannot show that the strangulation and suffocation statute is unconstitutional as applied to him. Christel's as-applied challenge is effectively a rehash of other claims where he asserted the strangulation and suffocation statute should have an element requiring a lack of consent in situations of consensual sexual erotic asphyxiation. (*Compare* Christel Br. 22–25 (as-applied), with id. at 17–21 (arguing for element as to consent).) But as the State observed previously when explaining Christel's lack of standing to bring a liberty or privacy claim, supra I. A. 4., he was convicted of a nonconsensual sexual assault by force or violence (R. 165; 249:87–88).

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